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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V. _ ' . o

OMALISS KEO,
MASPHAL KRY, <
* JAMES LAU,
DICKSON LAU, :
SUNNY CHAN, K
RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN,
SARAH YEUNG, and '
' HING IP CHUNG,
i Defendants. /

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT -

. The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
At all times material to this Indictnient%

1. The Lacey .Act made it unlawful-for any person to import, export, transport, sell,
receive, acquire, or purchase any fish or wildlife orf'.plant taken, possessed, transported, or sold in
violation of any law, treaty, or regulation of the Unitved States. 16.~U. S.C.§ 3372(a)(1).

2. The_Lacey‘Act, 16 U.S.C. 88 3372(d)(1) and (2), also made it unlawful for any

pﬁersqon to make or submit any false record, account, or label for, or any false identification of, any



wildlife which has been, or is intended to be - (1) imported, exported, fransported, sold, purchased,

: or received from any foreign country; or(2) transported in interstate or foreign comimerce.

3. The Lacey Act defines wwildlife” as “any wild animal, whether alive or dead,

" including without limitations any wild mammal, bird, reptile, amphibian, fish, mollusk, crustacean,

“arthr’oppd, coelenterate, or other invertebrate, whether or not bred, hatched, or born in captivity,

and includes any part, product, egg, O offspring thereof.” 16 U.S.C. § 3371(a).
4. = In order to protect certain species against over—explditation the United States -

became a s1gnat01y to an international treaty known as the Convention on International Trade n

- Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (heremafter ‘CITES”). Dependmg on the required

level of protection needed by 'a species, CITES uses a system of Appendixes to class1fy protected

- wildlife and plants. Appendix I of CITES includes species which are threatened with extinction

and for WMch trade must be subject to particularly stiict regulation and for which no trade is

allowed for commer(:lal purposes. CITES, Art. II at ﬁ[ 1. Appendlx II of CITES inclucies wildlife
species which although not necessarily threatened with extmc‘aon now, may become S0 unless
trade in specimens of such species is str1ct1y regulated. CITES, Art. Il at 9 2.

5. The United States and the Kingdom of Cambodia, along W1th over 180 other
countries, were parties to CITES, and bound to abide by its provisions and restrictions. Parties to
the Convention regulate trade in speciruens of various species and their parts, products, and
derivatives ‘through 4 system of permits (“CITES Permit”). Such docuruents ‘enable the
Conventlon partles to monitor the effects of the volumeé and type of trade to ensute trade is legal
and not detrimental to the survwal of the species included in the various Appendlxes

6. The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”), Department of the Interior,

- ig designated by Congress pursuant to the Endangered Species Act (ESA), Title 16, United States




- "httr)s //checkhst crtes orgl#le

Code, Section 1537(a) ‘as the CITES enforcement authority :w'rthin the United States. The

Department ‘of the Interror pubhshes 1egu1atrons to mlplement CITES.in 50 CF. R Palt 23 A list

- ofall specres PIC otected by CITES and the ESA nanementatron program.is marntamed‘pursuant to

-the Conventron by the CITES Secretarrat 50 C.F.R. §§23.7 and 23.9.

\7 . The prov1s1ons of CITES are 1mp1emented through the ESA which. states ,in

relevant part, “Itis unIawfuI for any person .to engage in any trade in any specrmens [of wrldhfe]

contrary to the prov1srons of .. [CITES] or. to possess any-specimens [of wrldhfe] traded contrary

" to the. prov1srons of [CITESj » “Trade” means, among other thmgs, “export CITES Art T.at

=

R B (c) “Speclmen” means.: any animal :.. whether alive.or -dead.” CITES Art Taty (b).

8. . Long~ta11ed macaques (Macaca fasczcularzs) sometrmes also known.as crab- eatrng

'.m'acaques are protected under Appendix 1T of CITES 50 CFR §§ 23 7 and 23. 9 -

n/search/ou ut la out—al habetrcal&level of hstrn '—0&show syn

onymsﬂl&show author—l&show enghsh*l&show spamsh~1&show french—l &screntrﬁc na '

~

me=Macaca+faScrcuIar1s&nage—:l.&ner page=20. The Iong—taﬂed macaque has been reguIated
under GITES since 1977:-

9. Before 1mport1ng 2 specrmen .of any anrmal protected under Appenchx I of CITES‘ -

- rnto the Unrted States avahd CITES export permit must be obtarned from the competent authorrty
T of the. country of export or Te- export A separate orrgmal or-a true copy of a CITES Perrmt must -
‘ n.be 1ssued before the 1mport occurs and the. document must. accompany gach. shrpment and be

" presented to FWS upon 1mportatron CITES Art IV §8 1 and 2; 50 C:F. R & 23 20(0) 23. 26(b)

10 CITES Perrmts are mdrvrdually numbered and mcIude mformatron such as the -

L
.

importer of record exporter specres bemg 1raded a descrrptron of the specrmens, the CITES

Appendlx number a-source code, the quantrty, d the date of1 issuance. The source code indicates




the particulars of the specimen(s) listed on the CITES Permit: among others, the code “W” denotes
a specimen taken from the wild; “R” denotes a ranched specimen, taken as an cgg or juvenilé from
the wild and reared in a controlled environment; “C” derrotes animals bred in captivity; all subject
to certain other terms and provisions on the Convention.

11.  Under Title 50, Part 14, of the Code of Federal Regulations, all imports of wildlife,
including long-tailed macaques, must be declared to the FWS on a completed, signed, and certified
Declaration for Importation or Exportation of Fish and Wwildlife (Form 3-177) and made available

' for inspection. Form 3-177 requires importers or their agents to provide, among other information,
the source of the wildlife they are importing, rspe,ciﬁcally whether the wildlife was captive—bred,
farm-raised; or wild-caught. Importels or their agents must furnish all applicable 1nformat1on

" requested on the Form 3.177 and must certify that the information furnished is true and complete

* 1o the best of his/her knowledge and belief. 50 CFR 14.61,

12. OMALISS KEO was the Director General of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Fisheries (MAFF) of the Government of Cambodia and Chairman of the CITES Scientific
Authority for Terrestrial Forest and Wildlife Resources, with oversight and responsibility for the
issuance of CITES export permits.

13. MASPHAL KRY was the Deputy Director of the Department of Wildlife and
Biodiversity within the Forestry Administration of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries (MAFF) of the Government. of Cambodia.

14-  JAMES LAU was the President, Chief Executive Officer, and owner of Vanny
Bio-Research Center (“Vanny HK”) later re-named Vanny Science Development LTD, which

was a Hong Kong-based company engaged in, among other bisiness, the capture and laundering

of wild-caught long-tailed macaques in Cambodia, for export to the United States and elsewhere.




15. DI‘CKSON -LAH Waé‘ the Gereral Manager of Vanny HK. and also seryed ’aSL the
. Screntlﬁc Manager for Vanny HK ) :
16.- SUNNY CHAN Was the Manager of Operatrons for Va nny HK. - CHAN handled

. the coordination of shlpments of wrld caught long—tarled macaques exported to the Umted States
~:from Cambodia. o ' o l: 1
. l7 RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN was. the Pubhc Relat-ions Manager. and Export
. ‘_ Manager for two facrlrtres of Vanny HK m Cambodra operated:by a subsrdrary, Vanny Bio-.

Rese'arch Cambodra ¢ VBRC”) at Phnom Penh and Pursat CHEUNG coord1nated the dehvery &
of w1ld caught long—talled macaques to the VBRC fac1ht1es in Cambodra for export to the' Umted
: ~States. ' ‘ -
o . 18 SARAH YEUNG who was physrcally located at the ofﬁces of Vanny HK was

‘the Finance Manager for VBRC YEUNG executed the ﬁnanc1al transactrons that provrded |

o fundrng to VBRC’S Phnom Penh and Pursat facilities for payment to black market collectors and

‘ MAFF employees for w11d long—ta.rled macaques captured by them and dehvered to: VBRC’
. facrhtres for export to the Umted States. SRR } E ~
190 HING 1P CHUNG was General Manager and Managin’g Director of VBRC.
: CHUNG facrhtated payments to. Cambodran government ofﬁcrals for their mvolvement in the
. capture of w’rld..long—tarled macaques and payments made to black market collectors of ‘wild-
a caught long-talled macaques for export to the Umted States |
20, - Umndrcted Co- Consplrator 1 (UCC 1 Was a company formed under the laws of
“the State of Florrda wrth its listed place of busmess in the Southem Drstnct of Florrda, which

engaged in the importation and sale of non—human pnmates mcluchng long-talled macaques ‘




21. Unjﬁdictgd, Co—Con%piratox 2 (UCWC—Q),.;&as a cq;nban_*,r forrnec‘l pﬁder.tﬂe laws .of ‘
, the‘AvState of Texas, with its listed i)lace of ‘businesvs- in Alice, Te_:xas.,‘_‘ which ‘eﬁgagéd in the
( impoi“cati_oi'l _and sale Ao,f pon-human pr.irna;tes, iqqiﬁding long-t‘ailéd macaques. |
& | COUNT 1 | |

‘Conspiracy
(18:U.S..C. §371)

._1. o The Gene;‘gl Allegations seétién of this Indigtrjnent is reallqgéd and incorpqrated
feferjencAe hetéiﬁ? aszthoug}:l set ft)rtﬁ in its entirety. . :
| 2. Beginning' on an qrﬂ;hown date, b’gt at lea_s;c as eaﬂy_ asonor gboutéDé_c,embe;:lé,\
2017, and cén‘@inui»ngt'throug.ﬁ on or aboutJ anualtyi’g’u():; 2022, m the Southern Dism%ct_ of Flotida
’ and ¢1$;ew1.ier§;’?l[he d,efénda&é, | - o

OMALISS KEO,
MASPHAL KRY,
o L ‘ JAMES LAU,
' o ' ~ DICKSON LAU,
‘ ‘ SUNNY ‘CHAN,
RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN,
* SARAH YEUNG, and
‘HING IP CHUNG,

did willfully, that-is;’ with the intéﬁt_. to further the, objects of v_thef‘conspirécy, and knowingly .
- -combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and with other persons 1'poth known and
unknown to the Grand-Jury, to commit dertain offenses against the United States, that is:

' a. toimport,export, transport, séll, receive, acquire, and purchase any wildlife,"
L : ' " that is, long-tailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis), knowing that said
' ‘ wildlife was taken, possessed, transported, and sold in violation of any law,

" treaty, and regulation: of the United States, in violation of Title 16, United
States Code, Section 3372(a)(1); ' - 1

N b. to make and submit any false fecord, account, and label for, and any false
- S . identification of, any wildlife, that is, long-tailed macaques (Macaca,
ro fascicularis), which has been, and is intended to be, imported; exported, -
A , : ' " transported, sold, purchased; and received from any foreign country; and

Al




transported in intérstate or foreign commerce, in violation of 16 US.C. §
3372(d)(1), (d)(2); and

c. to fraudulently and knowingly ifnport and bring into the United States any
merchandise contrary to any law and regulation of the United States, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 545.

Purpose of the Conspiracy

3. The pmpOse of the conspiracy was for the defendants and their co-conspiratots,
known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to smuggle CITES Appendix II protected species, that is,

long-tailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis), into the United States for financial gain.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

The manner and means by which the defendants sought to a*;:comp‘lish the objects and
purpose of the conspiracy incluéled, among others, the following:

4. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established facilities in
Cambodia purporting to breed long-tailed macaques for sale on the world market.

5. | The defeﬁdants and their unindicted co-conspirators engaged with ;:ustomers in the
United States and elsewhete and entered into contractual égreements to sell and export purportedly
captive-bred macaques from Cambodia to the United States. |

6. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established a‘logistics system

~to allow buyers to inspect macaques prior to sale, including through the use of veterinarians, to

test the monkeys for d_isqualifying conditions, quarantine shipments prior to export, and arrange
the necessary ground and ait transportation to facilitate the transactions.

7. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators arranged to iliegally purchase

" additional long-tailed macaques from black market suppliers in Cambodia and Thailand to make

up for the lack of supply of suitable monkeys at their purported breeding operaﬁons. The black-

market suppliers, including MAFF, identified in Vanny HK and VBRC records through the use of

7




the letters A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, K, P, and X, would primarily deliver the illegally acquired
| monkeys to the VBRC facility at Pursat:

‘8. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators utilized the services of MAFF
and its employees to further the purpose and objects of the conspiracy, and: |
a. To secure CITES export permits which falsely identified wild-caught.macaques

as captive bred in the VBRC facilities;

b. bTo act as the source, under the designation of Black Market Supply “A,” of
wild-caught macaques from National Parks and protected areas which MAFF
employees delivered to VBRC for later .saIe and export; B ‘

c. To provide Transport Permits which allowed macaques unsuitable for the
export trade to be sent from the Pursat facility to the Phnom Penh facility where
Athey were euthanized and their identification. tags transferred; ;co wild-caught
macaques, to make it appear the black-market monkeys were, captive bred at
VBRC facilities; ‘

d.. To prov1de unofficial- collection quotas, for Wthh cash payments to MAFF
were authorized at Vanny HK and made by VBRC employees.

9. The defendants and their unindicted co- conspnators dehvered and caused the
) delivery of wild-caught long-tailed r;lacaques to various international alrports in thie United States,
accompanied by Cambodian CITES Permits and FWS Form 3-177s falsely identifying the
monkeys as ceptive bred.
10.  Upon entry into the United States, the long-tailed macaque shipments would be
forwarded by truck from the port of entry to ‘a quarantine facility de31gnated by the.
nnporter/cons1gnees Who were located in various states, including the Southern Dlstnct of Florida.
Overt Acts
Inﬁn’gherance of the conspiracy, and to effeet the objects and purpose thereof, there were -
committed‘,end caused to be committed by at least ene of the co~conspiretoré her_eitt, within tbe

Southem District of Florida and elsewhere, at least one of the following overt acts,.among others:




1. Cn or about December. 19, .2017, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN met withr

OMALISS KEO and discussed KEO’s role in ‘the collection of wild long-tailed macaques from -

Cambodian National Parks.

2. On or about Deeember 19, 2017, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN advised JAMES

LAU, HING IP CHUNG, and SARAH YEUNG by email that OMALISS KEO would arrange
for MAF F staff to collect somewhere around 2, 000 monkeys for VBRC for whlch VBRC would
be charged a ‘fRoyalty tax of US 3 1.50 to Nation Treasure . . . > and that KEO “wﬂl instruct the

Direefor of the National Park.to. work out a survey. report of the animal population.”

3. On or about May 4, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN emailed JAM]ZS LAU
HING IP CHUN G, and SARAH YEUNG advising them that he had told OMALISS KEO that

. they were short of ammals to export and needed 300 to 500 heads to fulfill a July order and that

. KEO Would try to persuade hlS superior to allow collection of the needed monkeys The email-

) _further reported that any collection by MAFF personnel would have to be aﬁer upcoming July 29

elections to avoid unnecessary attention from the public and;non—governmental organizations
(NGOs), but that VBRC oould‘collect monkeys immediately and they would be off set ageinst a
. collection quota 0f 2,000 monheys that would be issued on May 17. The email also requested that

the defendants artange to make'a payment of $40.,000 to MAFF.

4. On or about June 14, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN reported in an email
addressed to JAMES LAU, HING IP CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY .CHAN that
- CHEUNG MAN received information from OMALISS KEO that the Minister had approved-and

issued the collection quota and final payment should be made to MAFF.




|
5. Later on June 14 2018 - an emall addressed to JAMES LAU HING IP )

R
CHUNG SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN requested from -
YEUNG a “firm date for remlttance as. he needéd to respond to OMALISS KEO and adv1sed

the recipients that “bes1des election campargns start most officials need the fund 3

6. On or about June:25; 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN along with, H[Nc 1P
".CHUNG SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN received a. rem1ttance document from an,
, 'employee at Vanny HK Ieﬂectmg that $83 259 00 ongmatmg from Vanny Chaln Technology
.(Hong Kong) lelted passed through the Bank of Amenca, N.A. in New York NY and was .

L recerved by VBRC ] Cambodran bank Itemized on the remittance was $40 OOO 00 for “PP Ammal

! '

. Cf_ollectton 2000 Heads.”

- -:7 . On or, about June 26 201 8 an employee of* VannyHK sent an emall to RAPHAEL
. CHEUNG MAN HING IP CHUN G, SUNNY CHAN and SARAH YEUNG w1th an attached
VBRC 1nternal accountmg document “PP Purchase Apphcat10n Form PF Number Cl/E/18 06-

8” which reﬂected a “Donauon for CPP Party. (Request from M. Omahss)” 1n the amount of
) $10, 000 00 The document was signed by CHUNG and CHEUNG MAN and contamed a

notation that read, “Spoke to Mr. Lau.

8. :Lateron June 26 201 8, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN by ematl prov1ded a copy of

MAFF Collection. Perrmt No. 6298 for the collectrcn of 2, 000 monkeys by “VBRC to JAMES

.LAU, HING IP, CHUNG, SARAH YEUN G, and SUNNY CHAN .

9. ° 'On or about July. 21,2018, VBRC shipped 440 sa‘rnples ~o'f‘blo'od séruri drawn
from long—taﬂed macaques to an, analytrcal laboratory in San Antomo Texas to. be tested;

‘ shlpplng doeuments accompanying the samples 1dent1ﬁed them as related to shrpment

10




USA1811, and -the accompanying CITES Permit KI11324 identified the source of the

monkeys as captive bred.

10. On or about July 25,2018, UCC-1, located in the Southern D1str10t of Florida,
imported & shipment 1dent1ﬁed as- USA1 810 contammg 150 1ong~talled macaques from VBRC

at John . Kennedy Airport (JFK) NeW York.

11.  On orabout July 25,;201 8, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Perrhit KH1294 were

presented to FWS at JFK which reflected that shipment USA1810 was composed entirely of-

' captive bred macaques.
"12.  On or about August 13, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN reported to JAMES .

LAU,; DICKSON LATU, HING 1P CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY -CHAN that he had

met with MAFF officials, including MASPHAL KRY, known to CHEUNG MAN as “MARK"

SOPHAL,” during which they discussed the price for the official quota of $150 for each of the

2,000 monkeys, and a price of $220 each for the unofficial quota 0f3,000, which MAFF employees
~ would collect and trangport to the VBRC facility at Pursat. CHEUNG MAN further reported that

i - MAFF pleferred to begm collecting as soon as possible -during. the ralny season, expected to

complete all necessary collecﬁon before the end of the year, and MAFF would provide VBRC 4

t06 hours of notice prlor to the dehvenes with the likely arrival t1me at mght and that OMALISS

KEO Verlﬁed these points several days later. MAFF had also assured CH]ZUNG MAN that
“unofficial animals” would not appear on VBRC’s monthly report, and MAFF would conceal the

unofficial monkeys from the local Phnom Penh and Pursat officials.

11 -




13. On or about August 24, 2018, UCC-1, located in the _Southem District of

* Florida, imported a shipment identified as USA1811 containing 360 long-tailed macaques

from VBRC at JFK Airport, New Y ork.

14.  On or about August 24, 2018, an FWS Form 3-177and CITES Permit KH1320
were presented to FWS at JFK which reflected that shipment USA1811 was composed entirely of

captive bred macaques.

15.  On or about November 2, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN sent an email to
DICKSON LAU, HING TP CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN in which he

reported havipg met with the MAFF collection team leader, MASPHAL KRY, krown to

‘ CHEUNG'AMAN as “MARK: YSOPHAL,” and advanced 1US$10,000 to him to carry on the

9011¢ctior;, that they had-mutually agreed that MAFF would collect and délive_r 300 animals
weighing between 2 to 4 kgs within the month to VBRC, and that the MAFF empioyee was aware
that VBRC woulcin’t accept and would reject any infetior animal. CHEUNG MAN asked his
superiors for the funds necessary to settl_g before the end of the month, representiﬁg the @omts

owed to MAFF for the 300 monkeys and for Royaity taxes due on.thé official quota animals.

16..  On or about May 11, 2019, a shipment of 360 long-tailed macaqués, containing-

approximately 74 wild caught monkeys, and identified as USA1973, was imported into the United

. States at JFK, and delivered to UCC-2 in Alice, Texas.

17. On May 11,2019, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KHI391 were presented

to. FWS at JFK in New York, which reflected that shipment USA1973 was composed entirely of

captive bred macaques.
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18. Onor about June 27; 2019, a shipment of 360 long-tailed macaques, containing
approximately 194 wild caught:monkeys and identified as USA 1974, was imported into the United

States at JFK, and delivered to UCC-2 in Alice, Texas.

19.  On June27, 2019, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1407 were presented
~ to FWS Aat JFK in New York, which reflected that shipment USAl 974 was composed-entirely of

~ captive bred macaques.

20.  Omorabout August 29, 2‘019_, MASPHAL KRY, accompanied by two other MAFF

‘employees, delivered 13 wild long-tailed macaques to ‘thevVBRC' facility at Pursat.

!
i

21. .On or about September 1, 2019, MASPHAL KRY, accompanied by two other
MAF F employees, ..delivered"24 wild long-tailed macaques to VBRC’s facility m Pursat, during
© which KRY suggested that the: land immediately behind the VBRC facility shouid‘ be purchased

‘to.make aroad that Would make it “more safe for the smuggling.”

-22. On or about September 3, 2019, Black Market Supplier D was pald approximately
- $10,380 for. the dehvery of approx1mate1y 60 Wﬂd caught long-tailed macaques -to the VBRC'

facility at Pursat.

23, Onor about October 8, 2019, HING IP CHUNG mformed SARAH YEUNG by

, emaﬂ that VBRC d1dn t have enough cash on hand aﬁer having made payments to MAFF and

requested $30 000.00 from YEUNG for the collection fund to pay for an addmonal 100 ammals

' whlch, Were on their Way.

24.  On or about Ogtober 20, 2019, MASPHAL KRY, .aecompanied by two other

" MATFF employees, delivered 20 wild long-tailed - macaques to the VBRC facﬂity‘i’n Pursat.
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95, On or about December 13, 2019, Black Market Supplier A was paid approximately
$8,360 for the delivety of approximately 38 wild caught long-tailed macaques tothe VBRC facility

at Pursat.

26. On or about January 16, 2020, a shipment of 288 long-tailed macaques, containing

approximately 237 wild caught monkeys and identified as USA2071, was imported into the United

States at JFK, and delivered to UCC-2 in Alice, Texas.

27.  On or about Jaﬁuary 16, 2020, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1523
were presented to FWS at JFK in New Yc;rk, which reflected that shipment USA2071 was

composed entirely of captive bred macaques.

28, On or about January 30, 2020, Black Market Supplier C was paid approximately

$10,645 for the delivery of approximately 68 wild caught long-tailed macaqués to the VBRC -

facility at Pursat.

29.  On or about February 21, 2020, a shipment of 288 long—téilgd macaques; E

containing approximately 138 wild caught monkeys and identified as USAl 916, was imported into

the United States at Newark, New Jersey,-and delivered to UCC-1in Miami, Florida.

30.  On or about February 21, 2020, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1524
were presented to FWS at Liberty International Airport’in Newark, New Jersey lWhiCh reflected

that shipment USA191 6fwas cqmposed entirely of captive bred macaques.

: 31.  From on or aboeut March 11, 2020, t6 on or about October 20, 2020, VBRC paid.

approximately $2,515,954 for approximately 14,323 wild caught long-tailed macaques received

from 7 black market suppliers.
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32. ~ On or about June 21, 2020, MASPHAL KRY delivered 35 wild long-tailed

macaques to the VBRC facility in Pursat and provided contact information using the name

3

“PHAL.”

" 33, On or about June 29, 2020, Black Market Supplier A was paid approximately
$4,840 for the delivery of approximately 22 wild caught long-tailed macaques to the 'VBRC facility

at Pursat.

34.  On November 11, 2020; a shipment of 396 long;failed macaques, containing
approximately 323 wild caught monkeys and identified as USA2011, was imported into'the United

_States at bu‘lles International Airport, Virginia, and delivgred to UC_CLI in Mlarm, Floﬂda.

35.  Onor about January 26, 2022, in an exchange of social media app communications,

' RAPHAEI CHEUNG discussed the delivery by Black Market Supplier D of wild_caught long-
" tailed macaques to VBRC and received return confirmation that 115 macaques had in fact been

- received and discussed the expected delivery by Black Matket Supplier K of 170 vﬁl&,é‘aught long-

tailed macaques.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS2-8
Smuggling
(18US.C. § 545)

1..  The General Al'légati‘ohs section of this Indictment is réalleged andéincorporate‘d by
- reference herein, as though set forth in its entirety.

- 2.7 . Onor ,aboilt. the:dates identified below with respect to each Count; in Miami-Dade

, County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,
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OMALISS KEO,
MASPHAL KRY,
JAMES LAU,
DICKSON LAU,
SUNNY CHAN,
RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN,
" SARAH YEUNG, and

HING IP CHUNG,

did fraudulently and knowingly import and bring into the United States any merchandise, that is,
wild caught fl'ong~taiiled macaques (Macaca fascicularis), contrary to any law and r_egulation of the .
. United States, through the p{esentation of false and fraudulent CITES Permits and FWS Form 3-

177s:

COUNT DATE SHIPMENT -MACAQUES QUANTIT_Y/ AIRPORT OF :CONSIGNEE
. | NUMBER DECLARED VALUE ENTRY . LOCATION

2 | 07/25/18 | USA1810 150/ $306,000 JFK. . | Miami, FL

3 | 08/24/18 USAISltl . 360 / $661,680 - JFK " Miami, FL

4 05/30/19 | USA1907 360 / $714,600 JFK~ . Miami, FL
5 | 02/21/20 | USA1916 288 / $697,500 Newark Liberty | Mlarm FL
6 ' |11/11/20 USA2011 396/ $1,162,800 T Dulles oL Miarm, FL

T\ o5 | OSAa108 | 540 781,755,000 Dulles Tnel. | Miami, FL

8§ [ 12717721 | USA2109 540 / $4,050,000 O’Hare | Miami, FL

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections,545 and 2.

FORFEIT URE

1. The allegatlons of this Supersedmg Indlctment aré hereby realleged and by this
* reference fully incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeitures to the United States of

America of eertain property in which the defendants, OMALISS KEO, MASPHAL KRY,
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'JAMES LAU, DICKSON LAU, SUNNY CHAN, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN, SARAH
-YEUNG and HING IP’ CHUNG have an mterest | |
2. Upon conviction of a conspiracy to, commlt ora Vlolatlon of, Title 16, United States
Code, Section 3372, as alleged in this Supersedmg Ind1otment the defendants shall forfeit to the
Umted States any and all wﬂdhfe 1mported exported, transported, sold, received, acquired, .or
purchased contrary to Title 16, United’ States Code, Section 3372, pursuant to Title 16, United
States Code, Section 3374 ‘
3. -Upon conv1ct1on of a violation of Title 18, United States Code Sectlon 545, as-
alleged in thls Supersedmg Indictment, the defendants. shall forfe1t to the United States of America -
| any and all property, real or Jpersonal, whlch constitutes or is detived.from proceeds traceable to
the offense or’ offenses pursuant to Title-18, United States Code, Sectlon 982(a)(2)(B)
' All pursuant to Title 16, United States Code, Section 3374(d) Tltle 18, Umted States Code,
Sectlon 982(a)(2)(B) and the procedures set forth in Title 21, Umted States Code Sect1on 853, as.

incorporated by 28, United States Code, Section 2461.

A TRUE BILL

omas Watts—F1tzGérald
A331stant United States: Attorney
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UNITED }S{lﬂATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHE

N DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Qmaliss Keo

Case No: __ 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Coimt(s) #:1

. Conspiracy

‘:"-Tltle 18, Umted States Code, Section 371

=% Max,; Tegn-of. Imprisonment: 5 Years

Imprlsonment o e

~ * Mandatory Min. Term of Imprlsonment (f apphcable) N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

‘Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Yezlu's Imprisonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers only to pos51ble term of i incareer

ation, supervised release and fines,

It does not in¢lude -

restitution, specxa assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.




UNI,TE-D_'STATES DISTRICT COURT

. S()UTHERI\ DISTRICT OF. FLORIDA
| | ‘PENALTX_SHEET
7 '-D.éfex;:,daﬁ;:'f'sf'Nanie: -MaS.Dhal_:KrS.’ 4 & »
Case No: 22—20340:CR~WILLIAMS(S -
Count(s) #: 1 - |
Conspiracy

B "Tlﬂe 18 Unlfed States Co

\

de; Sect1on 37 1.‘

<o VA, Term® ofTmprison
* Mandatory Min. Term

hmient:: SYears Imprlsonment h;,; e Tl
of Imprlsonment (f apphcable) N/A

T EAEL

edmm e et e T T

* Max. Supervised Rele: se: 3 Years

,* Masx. Flne Greater of 250 000 or twwe the pecunlary gam/loss'

Cognt(s) #. 2—8‘

- Smugghng

Title 18, United States’ Code, Section 54“ .

* Max. Term of Imprlsonment 20 Yea

rs Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Téerm of Imprisonmeént (1f apphcable) N/A

* Max. Supervised T Release: 3 Yeéars

- Max Fme Greater of $250 000 or twice the pecumary gam/loss

*Refers -only to poss1ble term of incarce
restltutlon, specxal assessments, Pa

ration; supemsed release and’ fines. It does-not include
arole terms, or forfeltures that. may be. appllcable

o
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name; Jamés Lau

CaseNo: _22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s) -
~ Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracy

~Title 18, Umted States Code Sectlon 371

~*¥Max. Term of Impnsonment 5 Years Imprlsonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A

* Max. Supérvised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fme Greater of $250 000 or twice the pecumary gam/loss

ke N I NPT ar - y e pr e rI BNIE S PO

Count(s) #: 2_—8

Smuggling

Title 18, Umted States Code, Section 545

" * Max. Term of Imprisoiiment: 20 Years Impnsonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if apphcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Vax. Finé: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

s - — oY . - oA et R T

*Refers. only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not mclude
restitution, specnal assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.

=
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Dickson Lau ‘

Case No: _ 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s) o

Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracv . -

- - Title 18, Umted States Code Section 371

ot o N Term of Tiprisonment: 5 Years Impnsonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A
*Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. I‘me Greater of $250 000 or twice the pecumary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smugghnsz

Title.18, Umted States Code, Section 545 .
* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if apphcable) N/A
~* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
- * Max. Fme Greater of $250 000 or twice the pecumary gain/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, superv1sed release and fines. It does not mclude
restltuﬁon, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Sunny Chan

Case No:.  22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Count(s) #: 1

i

Conspiracy

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

! . ¥ Max-Term of Imprisonmient: 5 Years Imprisonment - - e
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisoninent: 20 Years Imprisonment

# Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years '

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. Tt does not include
. restitution, special assessments, parole terms; or forfeitures that may be applicable.




" Defendant's Name;

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Raphael Cheung Man

Case No: _22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Count(s) #: 1 4

Conspiracv

" - Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

- "‘ Max. Term -of Imprlsonment 5. Years Imprisonment-
¥ Mandatory Min. Teérni‘of Imprisoitinent (if applicable): N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max Fme Greater of $250,000 or tw1ce the pecuniary gain/loss

C.ount(s) #: 2-_8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if apphcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Vax. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss .

P IS S - - - - R

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: ‘ Sarah Yeung

Case No: 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s) -

Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracy

- Title 18, United States Code Section 371
A Max, Term of. Imp1 1s0nment 5 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprlsonment af appllcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fme Gx eater of $250 000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545
* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprlsonment
% Mandatory Min, Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years '
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

it

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or ‘forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT.
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Défendant's Name: _ Hing Ip Chung

Case No: . 22~20340~CR7WILLIAMS(S)
Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracv

‘Title 18, United States. Code, Section 371

' *Max. “Térm of: Imprlsonment 5 Years- -Imprisonment :
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprlsonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss
Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, Uﬁited States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
© * Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the: pecumary gam/loss

*Refers only to possible térm of incarceration, supervised release and fines. Tt does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeltures that may be applicable.
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AO 442 (Rev. 11/11) Arrest Warrant

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
forthe

Southern District of Florida

United States of America -

v. ) .
‘ C 22-20340-CR-WIL,
Onialiss Keo, et al. g ase No. : v LIAMS(S)
)
)
)
Defendants.
ARREST WARRANT
To: Af;y authorized law enforcemgan't officer

-

, YOU ARE COMMANDED to arrest and bring before a Umted States maglstx ate judge thhout unnecessary delay.
(name of person to be arrested) Omaliss Keo
who i is accused of an offense or violation based on the following document filed with the court:

DIndictment ljSupersedmg Indictment [:Ilnformanon DSupersedlng Information DComplamt
DP'robation Violation Petition DSupervxsed Release Violation Petition DVlolatlon Notice DOrder of the Court

This offense is briefly described as follows:

Con3p1racy to Traffic Wildlife, in violation of Title, 18, United States Code, Section 371
"Smuggling protected Wlldhfe in v1olat10n of Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

-
Date: \\\6\%\%— ) - 1
Y Issuing afficer’s signature
City gnd state: - Miami, Florida . Angela E. Noble, Clerk of Court / Court Administrator
¢ ’ " Printed name and title’
Return
This warrant ‘was recelved on (date) -, and thie person was arrested on (date)
at (cxty and state) y .
Date:

Arresting officer’s signature

Printed name and title”




AOQ 442 (Rev. 11/11) Arrest Warrant

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the o
Southern District of ¥ lo;ida

United States of America

:: 'V. )
' ! 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s
Omaliss Keo, et al. g Case No. (s)

)

)

)

Defendants.
ARREST WARRANT

To: Any authorized law enforcement officer

YOU ARE COMMANDED to arrest and bring before a United States magistrate judge without unnecessary delay
(name of person fo be arrested) Masphal Kry ,
who is accused of an offense or violation based on the following document filed with the court:

Dlndictment Superseding Indictment Dlnformation‘ DSuperseding Information DComplaint ’
DProbation Violation Petition DSupervised Release Violation Petition D\liolation Notice DOrder of the Court

This offense is briefly described as follows:

Conspiracy to Traffic Wildlife, in'violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371
Smuggling protected Wildlife, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

. g
Date: x \\f&ka\%\ ] .___.

— Issuing officer's signature

City and state: _ Miami, Florida . Angela E. Noble, Clerk of Court /- Court Administrator
Printed name and title

Return

This warrant was received on (date) , and the person was arrested on (date)
at (city and state) ‘ )

Date:

Arresting officer s signature

Printed name and title




